S249923

No. S	
-------	--

### IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

ROCKEFELLER TECHNOLOGY INVESTMENTS (ASIA) VII, Plaintiff and Respondent

v.

CHANGZHOU SINOTYPE TECHNOLOGY CO., LTD., Defendant and Appellant

### **PETITION FOR REVIEW**

After a Published Opinion of the Second District Court of Appeal Division Three Case No. B272170

Superior Court of California County of Los Angeles Hon. Randolph M. Hammock Case No. BS149995

### **BLUM COLLINS, LLP**

Steve A. Blum (Bar No. 133208) Chia Heng (Gary) Ho (Bar No. 229995) 707 Wilshire Boulevard, Suite 4880 Los Angeles, California 90017 Telephone: (213) 572-0400

SUMMARY OF REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE
GRANTED
QUESTIONS PRESENTED 10
STATEMENT OF FACTS11
SINOTYPE SHOULD BE BOUND BY ITS CONTRACTUAL WAIVER OF HAGUE CONVENTION'S SERVICE REQUIREMENTS14
THE HAGUE CONVENTION DOES NOT PROHIBIT
CONTRACTUAL WAIVERS OF ITS REQUIREMENTS16
CHINESE LAW DOES NOT PROHIBIT CONTRACTUAL WAIVERS OF HAGUE CONVENTION'S REQUIREMENTS20
CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE WITH WORD COUNT24
PROOF OF SERVICE25

### TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

### Cases

Alfred E. Mann Living Trust v. ETIRC Avaiaiton S.a.r.l.		
(2010) 78 A.D.3d 13715, 16		
Animal Science Products, Inc. v. Hebei Welcome		
Pharmaceutical (2018) 138 S.Ct. 186522		
Brisbane Lodging, L.P. v. Webcor Builders, Inc.		
(2013) 216 Cal.App.4th 124919		
Carma Developers Inc. v. Marathon Development California		
(1992) 2 Cal.4th 4844		
D.H. Overmyer Co., Inc., of Ohio v. Frick Co.		
(1972) 405 US 17418		
FTC v. PCCare247, Inc., 2013 WL 841037		
(S.D.N.Y. March 7, 2013)7		
Moncharsh v. Heily & Blase (1992) 3 Cal.4th 14		
Rio Properties, Inc v. Rio In't Interlink,		
284 F.3d 1007, 1017 (9th Cir, 2002)7		
Statutes		
Code Civ. Proc., § 12804		
Fed. R. Civ. P. 4(d)(3)4		
Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(a)(1)(A)4		
People's Republic of China, Civil Law Article 1456, 20		
People's Republic of China, Civil Procedure Law		
Articles 262-26321		
Principles on Choice of Law in International Commercial Contracts		
(approved by the Hague Conference on March 19, 2015)6, 18		

# TO THE HONORABLE TANI GORRE CANTIL-SAKAUYE, CHIEF JUSTICE OF CALIFORNIA,

# AND THE HONORABLE ASSOCIATE JUSTICES OF THE CALIFORNIA SUPREME COURT:

Plaintiff and respondent Rockefeller Technology Investments (Asia) VII ("Rockefeller Asia") hereby petitions for review of the published decision of the California Court of Appeal, Second Appellate District, Division Three, and prays that, upon review, the decision be reversed.

# SUMMARY OF REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

On June 1, 2018, the Court of Appeal issued a decision that undermined the legal effectiveness of every arbitration agreement that California companies have entered into with Chinese parties. The decision struck down four standard features of an arbitration agreement with a foreign party -- to arbitrate any disputes in California (for example, with JAMS), to submit to the jurisdiction of California courts, to waive service of process under the Hague Convention, and to accept notice of any U.S. proceedings by mail, FedEx, or email.

The Court of Appeal held that private parties cannot contractually waive the Hague Convention's service requirements or agree to specific forms of service of process not expressly authorized by the Hague Convention. The Court of Appeal voided Rockefeller Asia's judgment against defendant and appellant Changzhou Sinotype Technology Co., Ltd. ("Sinotype") because Rockefeller Asia's petition to confirm arbitration award was served by FedEx and email pursuant to a contractual waiver of Hague Convention requirements. The decision's practical effect makes it nearly impossible for California companies to engage in arbitrations with Chinese parties with the expectation of being able to enforce an arbitration award.

Parties wishing to initiate an arbitration must spend serious time and money to serve process through China's law enforcement agencies. Service under the Hague Convention is lengthy and expensive. The Hague Convention sets no time limits for completing service after the appropriate papers have been submitted to foreign authorities. See Frederick S. Longer, Service of Process in China, ABA Section of Litigation 2012 Section Annual Conference, ABA Chinese Drywall Panel, at 2 (April 18-20, 2012) (with reference to service of process in China: "The papers to be served must first be presented to the Chinese Central Authority, which then is supposed

to transmit the documents to local authorities for service upon the individual defendant. *This takes time. Lots of it.*" Emphasis added.)

Under the Court of Appeal's decision, parties who already have an arbitration award or a judgment can now find their award or judgment voided at any time on grounds of improper service of process. If the four-year statute of limitations for confirming arbitration awards has passed, parties with voided judgments would not be able to file another petition to confirm arbitration award because it would be time-barred. Even judgments entered decades ago are vulnerable to attack, since the Court of Appeal held that judgments can be attacked at "any time" on the ground that the contractual "Hague waiver" violates the Hague Convention.

Thousands of arbitration judgments could be brought back from the dead, with huge economic consequences, especially for the intellectual property rights of California companies.

The impact of the decision below is far-reaching. The rules of many California organizations that conduct international arbitrations with foreign parties contain contractual Hague waivers. See Independent Film and Television Alliance, Rules for International Arbitration, Rule 2.1, "The parties waive application of the Hague Convention for Service Abroad of Judicial and

Extrajudicial Documents in Civil or Commercial Matters with regard to service of process." Over the years many foreign defendants have opted to contractually waive the Hague Convention requirements because the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure provide foreign defendants with 90 days to file an answer to a complaint, instead of the standard 21 days, if they waive service. Fed. R. Civ. P. 4(d)(3); see also Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(a)(1)(A).

The Court of Appeal's decision therefore upends decades of contractual obligations and expectations and could potentially unravel thousands of arbitration awards and judgments. To allow foreign parties to enter into a contract, and then proceed to unilaterally disregard the contract's service of process and consent to jurisdiction provisions, would allow foreign parties to simply return to their country in order to avoid contractual obligations. This would result in anarchy and turn international arbitration law on its head.

The Court of Appeal's decision shatters two pillars of California law – i.e., private parties' fundamental freedom to contract (*Carma Developers Inc. v. Marathon Development California, Inc.* (1992) 2 Cal.4th 48) and the State's longstanding public policy supporting the use of private arbitration to resolve disputes (Code Civ. Proc., § 1280 et seq.; *Moncharsh v. Heily & Blase* (1992) 3 Cal.4th 1, 9; *Jones v. Humanscale Corp.* (2005) 130

Cal.App.4th 401, 407) – in deference to an international treaty (Hague Convention) that's been plagued by conflicting interpretations and uncertainties.

Only a year ago did the U.S. Supreme Court resolve a split among federal and state courts as to whether the Hague Convention actually permits the service of process via "postal channels." Courts in different states still cannot agree on whether FedEx and other private couriers fall within "postal channels." And it remains unclear whether email technology — which did not exist when the Hague Convention was first adopted in 1965 - is prohibited.

Given the risks of noncompliance, commercial parties like

Rockefeller Asia and Sinotype therefore have attempted to deal with
the Hague Convention's legal uncertainties *ex ante* through contract
before any dispute arises. It simply makes no sense for California
courts to upend the contracting parties' agreements and expectations
when the courts cannot agree on what the Hague Convention
actually requires.

In fact, the Hague Conference in 2015, adopted the "Principles on Choice of Law in International Commercial Contracts," which recognized the concept of "party autonomy" to determine the choice of law. According to the Hague Conference, "Party autonomy, which refers to the power of parties to a contract to choose the law that

governs that contract, enhances certainty and predictability within the parties' primary contractual arrangement and recognizes that parties to a contract may be in the best position to determine which set of legal principles is most suitable for their transaction. Many States have reached this conclusion and, as a result, giving effect to party autonomy is the predominant view today." <a href="Principles on Choice of Law in International Commercial Contracts">Principles on Choice of Law in International Commercial Contracts</a>, approved by the Hague Conference on March 19, 2015), I.3.

Applying these Hague Principles to this case, the Court of Appeal erred in disregarding Rockefeller Asia and Sinotype's choice of California law in their contract. Even though Sinotype agreed to submit to the jurisdiction of California courts, the Court of Appeal applied Chinese law to quash Rockefeller Asia's service of summons in direct contravention of three judges (the late Justice Richard Neal, Judge Mel Recana, and Judge Randolph Hammock) who expressly found Rockefeller Asia properly served Sinotype pursuant to their contract.

The Court of Appeal's reliance on China's Civil Procedure

Article 261 to claim that Chinese law bars Hague waivers is

misplaced because Chinese law does not apply in this case. As
shown below, the Court of Appeal's decision is also based on a
blatantly false misreading of China's Civil Procedure Article 261, as

perpetrated by Sinotype's American lawyers. In fact, as discussed further below, Chinese law (Civil Law Article 145) expressly allows Chinese citizens to agree to have their contractual obligations determined by a non-Chinese law of their choice.

Moreover, rulings in the federal courts have shown that the Hague Convention's service requirements are not sacrosanct. Federal district courts have been ordering forms of service of process not enumerated in the Hague Convention with increasing frequency, including email service. (See e.g., *FTC v. PCCare247, Inc.*, 2013 WL 841037 (S.D.N.Y. March 7, 2013) (court ordered defendants in India served by email); the court stated that "[a]s the Ninth Circuit has stated that the due process reasonableness inquiry 'unshackles the federal courts from anachronistic methods of service and permits them entry into the technological renaissance[,]" quoting *Rio Properties, Inc v. Rio In't Interlink*, 284 F.3d 1007, 1017 (9th Cir, 2002).)

If courts can order waivers of Hague Convention requirements, then private parties should be allowed to contractually waive Hague Convention requirements on their own.

Instead of making it easier for Californians to do business with Chinese parties, the Court of Appeal decision encourages Chinese parties to engage in strategic behavior designed to undermine

contracts in California and the jurisdiction of California courts. This is exactly what happened in this case. Even though Sinotype and its CEO Curt Huang had actual notice of the arbitration and state court proceedings (JAMs alone served Mr. Huang with 7 separate notices), it hid in silence for seven years before showing up in American courts to attack Rockefeller Asia's hard-won judgment. Even though Sinotype and Mr. Huang had substantial contacts with California, agreed to submit to the jurisdiction of California courts, agreed to specific forms of service of process that Rockefeller Asia carefully complied with, the Court of Appeal still decided that it could not impose jurisdiction over Sinotype.

As Judge Hammock said in his trial court opinion, Sinotype's CEO Curt Huang is "no country bumpkin." He has an advanced degree from U.C. Berkeley and is Chairman, CEO, and General Manager of Sinotype China. Sinotype China is a 70% owned subsidiary of its parent, Sinotype Technology International ("Sinotype USA"), a California corporation with headquarters in San Francisco, California. For over 20 years, Mr. Huang has reported to the California Secretary of State that he is CEO of Sinotype USA, is a resident of California, and is the agent for service of process of Sinotype USA. According to Mr. Huang's published 2014 statement: "Adobe, Google, Microsoft, Apple, IBM, and now Amazon (in their

Kindle Products) are using Sinotype Fonts. Microsoft bundles ten Sinotype fonts with Microsoft Office and ST Heidi, our most popular font, is used in over 70% of set-top boxes. That is about 180 million devices." Making Type, September 18, 2014. Moreover, Sinotype China was in a joint venture with Adobe and Google in California to develop the famous CJK world-wide font. During his two decades in California, Mr. Huang negotiated and executed many agreements on behalf of Sinotype China and his other companies with their American counterparts.

Thus, Mr. Huang clearly understood what he and Sinotype were doing in hiding from U.S. arbitration and court proceedings for seven years – they bamboozled Rockefeller Asia. Having induced Rockefeller Asia to enter a contract by agreeing to waive Hague Convention requirements, Sinotype has turned around and argued that the same contract violates the Hague Convention. Sinotype's repeated failure to appear in spite of actual notice reflects a deliberate strategy to flaunt the authority of California courts, as reflected in Mr. Huang's statement to Rockefeller Asia's principals that Sinotype was "a Chinese company ... [and therefore was] immune to any legal remedies that the [plaintiff] might secure from U.S. courts and that [Sinotype] would ignore and not participate in any U.S. legal process."

Unfortunately, the Court of Appeal has endorsed Mr. Huang's strategy with its ruling, which if upheld, will drastically curtail the freedom of people in California to do business with people from around the world, which is critically important to the state economy. (See U.S. News, "These 5 States Trade the Most With China," March 23, 2018 ("the State of California does more business with China than any other state in America")). We anticipate that a number of amicus curiae letters will emphasize the extent to which these issues are important, on-going, and need to be resolved now.

The published opinion of the Court of Appeal was filed June 1, 2018. (Copy attached as Appendix A.)

### **QUESTION PRESENTED**

- Can private parties contract to waive the Hague
   Convention's service of process requirements?
- 2. Can private parties agree in a contract to be served with legal process by modern methods not expressly authorized in the Hague Convention, such as regular mail, FedEx, or email?
- 3. Does actual service of process that conforms to the waiver and written consent of the defendant constitute void service as a *per se* violation of due process?

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

In 2008, Rockefeller Asia and Sinotype entered into a contract (the "2008 Agreement"). Because both Sinotype and its CEO Curt Huang had substantial contacts with California, Sinotype agreed to submit "to the jurisdiction of the Federal and State Courts in California" and to "the Judicial Arbitration & Mediation Service [JAMS] in Los Angeles for exclusive and final resolution" of all disputes with Rockefeller Asia. Both parties agreed to be served with process by three specific methods – FedEx, fax, and email.

Sinotype subsequently breached the 2008 Agreement. In 2012, Rockefeller Asia submitted its claims against Sinotype to binding arbitration at JAMS before the late Justice Richard Neal, who had served for ten years on the Court of Appeal for the State of California. JAMS and Rockefeller Asia both sent arbitration notices and documents directly to Sinotype in the exact manner specified in the 2008 Agreement (via FedEx, fax, and email); Rockefeller Asia also did the same. Even though Sinotype had both formal and actual notice of the arbitration, it did not appear or participate in any manner in the arbitration proceedings. After extensive hearing and briefing, Justice Neal issued a detailed written decision against Sinotype and entered an arbitration award for Rockefeller Asia. In the written decision, Justice Neal made extensive findings about how

Rockefeller v. Sinotype Case No. B272170 Page 11

Sinotype had been properly served with arbitration notices and documents by JAMS and Rockefeller Asia.

In 2014, Rockefeller Asia filed this action to confirm its arbitration award. Rockefeller Asia again served Sinotype with court notices and pleadings in the exact manner specified in the 2008 Agreement. Sinotype again failed and refused to appear. In October 2014, Los Angeles Superior Court Judge Mel Red Recana, after holding hearings and reviewing pleadings on the arbitration proceedings, service of process, and Sinotype's actual notice of arbitration and court proceedings, entered judgment confirming Rockefeller Asia's arbitration award. Rockefeller Asia served this judgment on Sinotype by the same agreed-upon methods.

Despite the fact that in late 2014 Sinotype had actual notice that a judgment had been entered against it for almost half-a-billion dollars, Sinotype continued to do nothing. However, once Rockefeller Asia began to attempt to execute on this judgment against some of Sinotype's considerable assets in the United States, Sinotype finally decided to specially appear in this case in January 2016 to attack the judgment.

Sinotype claimed that the service methods it had agreed to in the 2008 Agreement violated the Hague Convention. Judge Randolph Hammock rejected Sinotype's arguments. Judge

Hammock specifically found that Rockefeller Asia and Sinotype agreed to waive the Hague Convention requirements and to serve and accept process by FedEx and email and that Rockefeller Asia fully complied with these contractual service requirements.

Judge Hammock also found that Sinotype had actual notice of more than 7 years of arbitration and state court proceedings but simply decided not to show up until judgment enforcement began. He stated in his opinion that "Mr. Huang's claim that he 'ignored' all of the notices and documents he actually received by 'not opening' any of them until March 2015, is simply not believable. Mr. Huang is a highly-educated, sophisticated and successful businessman/CEO of a multi-national corporation which has considerable assets. Indeed, he has an advanced degree from U.C. Berkeley, and most interesting of all, he is the actual designated 'Agent for Service of Process' for the defendant's subsidiary corporation in California. Clearly, Mr. Huang understands the legal importance of documents which are mailed, via federal express, to your main corporate offices and which are also sent via email (which he has never denied also receiving). It simply stretches one's credulity to suggest otherwise."

Judge Hammock eventually denied Sinotype's motion to quash service of summons. Sinotype appealed from Judge Hammock's ruling.

#### SINOTYPE SHOULD BE BOUND BY ITS CONTRACTUAL

### WAIVER OF HAGUE CONVENTION'S SERVICE

### REQUIREMENTS

The Court of Appeal reversed Judge Hammock's ruling on the ground that, because Sinotype was not served with process in accordance with Hague Convention requirements, California courts did not have personal jurisdiction over Sinotype. 233 Cal.Rptr.3d 814, 827. The Court of Appeal erred in finding that Sinotype was not bound by its contractual Hague waiver.

The 2008 Agreement contained the following provisions:

- "6. The Parties shall provide notice in the English language to each other at the addresses set forth in the Agreement via Federal Express or similar courier, with copies via facsimile or email, and shall be deemed received 3 business days after deposit with the courier.
- "7. The Parties hereby submit to the jurisdiction of the Federal and State courts in California and consent to service of process in accord with the notice provisions above.
- "8. In the event of any disputes arising between the Parties to this Agreement, either Party may submit the dispute to the Judicial Arbitration & Mediation Service in Los Angeles for exclusive and final resolution pursuant to according to [sic] its streamlined procedures before a single arbitrator .... Disputes shall include failure of the Parties to come to Agreement as required by this Agreement in a timely fashion."

In Paragraph 6, the parties unambiguously waived the Hague Convention requirements – it requires service of process under the Agreement to be accomplished through FedEx, fax and email, which are not enumerated in the Hague Convention. In paragraph 7, Sinotype submitted to the jurisdiction of California courts.

These contract terms are similar to those approved by the appellate court in New York in *Alfred E. Mann Living Trust v. ETIRC Avaiaiton S.a.r.l.* (2010) 78 A.D.3d 137 (*Mann*), which is directly on-point (there is no case on-point in California). In *Mann*, the foreign defendant consented to jurisdiction in New York and agreed to be served with process by email, which the New York appellate court found was a waiver of Hague Convention requirements. The court held that precluding a waiver of service of process "would allow people to unilaterally negate their clear and unambiguous written waivers of service by the simple expedient of leaving the country." *Id.* At 141. Such a result would turn contract law on its head and make many commercial agreements with foreign parties impossible to enforce.

The reasoning in *Mann* should be applied in this case.

Sinotype consented to personal jurisdiction and agreed to be served by FedEx, fax, and email, methods that Sinotype knew were not authorized by the Hague Convention. Sinotype should not be

allowed to now claim that it is not subject to the jurisdiction of California courts because it was not served by additional methods under the Hague Convention.

The inconsistency between *Mann* and the decision below furnishes an additional reason for review by this Court. California and New York courts should interpret contractual provisions on waiver of service of process in a uniform fashion. Companies that do business in both California and New York should not have to cope with different interpretations of the same contractual terms or waivers.

# THE HAGUE CONVENTION DOES NOT PROHIBIT CONTRACTUAL WAIVERS OF ITS REQUIREMENTS

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