No. S249923

IN THE SUPREME COURT

FOR THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

Changzhou Sinotype Technology Co., Ltd.,

Appellant/Defendant,

VS.

Rockefeller Technology Investments (Asia),

Respondent/Plaintiff.

Second Appellate District Court of Appeal Civil No.: B272170

Los Angeles Superior Court Case No.: BS149995

Judicial Officer Information:

The Honorable Randolph Hammock, Presiding in Dept. 47 [(213) 633-0647]

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

After a Published Opinion
of the Second District Court of Appeal, Division Three
Case No. B272170

Steve Qi, Esq. (SBN 228223) LAW OFFICES OF STEVE QI & ASSOCIATES 388 E. Valley Blvd., Suite 200 Alhambra, CA 91801

Tel: (626) 282.9878 Fax: (626) 282.8968

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

Then effective Article 260 of the Civil Procedure Law of the People's Republic of China (translated into English) (see MJN) provides, in pertinent part:

"Article 260 A people's court and a foreign court may mutually request each other for service of documents, investigation, evidence collection and other litigation acts on their respective behalf in accordance with the international treaties concluded or acceded to by the People's Republic of China or according to the principle of reciprocity.

If any matter for which a foreign court requests assistance harms the sovereignty, security or social public interest of the People's Republic of China, a people's court shall refuse to enforce the matter."

Then effective Article 261 of the Civil Procedure Law of the People's Republic of China (translated into English) (see MJN) (hereinafter "Article 261") provides, in pertinent part:

"Article 261. A request for and the provision of judicial assistance shall be conducted through channels stipulated in the international treaties concluded or acceded to by the People's Republic of China, and in the absence of treaty relations, shall be conducted through diplomatic channels.

An embassy or consulate of a foreign country in the People's Republic of China may serve documents on, investigate, or collect evidence from the citizens of that country, provided, however, that the laws of the People's Republic of China are not violated and that no compulsory measures are adopted.

Except for the circumstances specified in the preceding paragraph, no foreign agency or individual may serve documents, conduct investigations or collect evidence within the territory of the People's Republic of China without the consent of the in-charge authorities of the People's Republic of China." [Emphasis added]

Article 261 states that any request for judicial assistance "shall be conducted through channels stipulated in the international treaties concluded or acceded to by the People's Republic of China" or through diplomatic channels. People's Republic of China Civil Procedure Law, arts. 260 & 261 (see MJN). The Hague Service Convention is precisely the international treaty contemplated by Article 261 to which China has acceded with the intention of channeling all requests for judicial assistance through the mechanism provided by the treaty and China's implementing legislation in compliance with the Hague Service Convention. In acceding to the Hague Service Convention, China took a limited reservation with regard to service of process by mail, further indicating its determination to control the intrusion of foreign legal process on Chinese judicial sovereignty. Indeed, according to the U.S. State Department's website,

service of process by mail should NOT be used in China. Bureau of Consular Affairs, U.S. Dep't of State, *China Judicial Assistance*, https://travel.state.gov/content/travel/en/legal-considerations/judicial/country/china.html.

"China . . .

Party to Hague Service Convention? Yes
Party to Hague Evidence Convention? Yes
Party to Hague Apostille Convention? Yes
Party to Inter-American Convention? No

Service of Process by Mail? No"

Although the Hague Convention "liberalized service of process in international civil suits," (see <u>Brockmeyer v. May</u>, (9th Cir. 2004) 383 F.3d 798, 801), it does not, by itself, provide an affirmative answer to what specific types of service are allowed in a particular case.

The English text of Article 10 of the Convention reads as follows:

"Provided the State of destination does not object, the present Convention shall not interfere with—

- "(a) the freedom to send judicial documents, by postal channels, directly to persons abroad,
- "(b) the freedom of judicial officers, officials or other competent persons of the State of origin to effect service of judicial documents directly through the judicial officers, officials or other competent persons of the State of destination,
- "(c) the freedom of any person interested in a judicial proceeding to effect service of judicial documents directly through the judicial officers, officials or other competent persons of the State of destination."

In Water Splash, Inc. v. Menon (2017) _U.S._,_ [137 S.Ct. 1504, 1508, 197 L.Ed.2d 826] ("Water Splash"), a unanimous United States Supreme Court, recently resolved a split between the Second Circuit and Eighth Circuit Courts of Appeals and held that the Convention does not prohibit service by mail but also held, "this does not mean that the Convention affirmatively authorizes service by mail." (Id.) The Court then went on to state that, "in cases governed by the Hague Service Convention, service by mail is permissible if two conditions are met: first, the receiving state has not objected to service by mail; and second, service by mail is authorized under otherwise-applicable law." [emphasis added] (Id.)

Service on a Chinese company by mail is not effective in California or anywhere else in the United States, as California and other U.S. courts have held that formal objections to service by mail under Article 10(a) of the Convention are valid. (Dr. Ing H.C. F. Porsche A.G. v. Superior Court, (1981) 123 Cal. App. 3d 755, 761 (rejecting attempt to serve a German defendant by mail where Germany had objected to Article 10(a) of the Convention)). "By virtue of the supremacy clause, the [Hague Service Convention] overrides state methods of serving process abroad that are objectionable to the nation in which the process is served." (See DeJames v. Magnificence Carriers, Inc., (3d Cir. 1981) 654 F.2d 280).

It is beyond reasonable dispute that China has objected to service by mail since China has objected to Article 10 which is the Article providing for service by mail. It is also beyond dispute that China views attempts to serve its citizens by mail as an insult to its sovereignty and a violation of the treaty it entered into with the United States. It is beyond dispute, also, that China does not recognize or permit informal service on its citizens even by their own consent under Article 5 of the Convention.

The English text of Article 5 of the Convention reads as follows:

"Article 5 - The Central Authority of the State addressed shall itself serve the document or shall arrange to have it served by an appropriate agency, either –

- a) by a method prescribed by its internal law for the service of documents in domestic actions upon persons who are within its territory, or
- b) by a particular method requested by the applicant, unless such a method is incompatible with the law of the State addressed.

Subject to sub-paragraph (b) of the first paragraph of this Article, the document may always be served by delivery to an addressee who accepts it voluntarily.

If the document is to be served under the first paragraph above, the Central Authority may require the document to be written in, or translated into, the official language or one of the official languages of the State addressed.

That part of the request, in the form attached to the present Convention, which contains a summary of the document to be served, shall be served with the document." [emphasis added] Proper service under the Hague Convention is effected through the designated Chinese Central Authority in Beijing, which is the "Bureau of International Judicial Assistance, Ministry of Justice of the People's Republic of China". A Plaintiff, which includes a Plaintiff that is suing in a California Court, seeking to sue a company which resides within the territorial boundaries of the People's Republic of China must submit the following to the Ministry of Justice:

- a. A completed United States Marshals Service Form USM-94
- b. The original English version of the documents to be served (the summons must have the issuing court's seal)
 - c. The Chinese translation of all documents to be served.
 - d. A photocopy of each of these documents. (See below.)

The U.S. State Department's website provides, as follows:

"China is a party to the Hague Convention on the Service Abroad of Judicial and Extra Judicial Documents in Civil and Commercial Matters. Complete information on the operation of the Convention, including an interactive online request form are available on the Hague Conference website. Requests should be completed in duplicate and submitted with two sets of the documents to be served, and translations, directly to China's Central Authority for the Hague Service Convention. The person in the United States executing the request form should be either an attorney or clerk of court. The applicant should include the titles attorney at law or clerk of court on the identity and address of applicant and signature/stamp fields. In its Declarations

and Reservations on the Hague Service Convention, China formally objected to service under Article 10, and does not permit service via postal channels. For additional information see the Hague Conference Service Convention website and the Hague Conference Practical Handbook on the Operation of the Hague Service Convention. See also China's response to the 2008 Hague Conference questionnaire on the practical operation of the Service Convention."

Bureau of Consular Affairs, U.S. Dep't of State, *China Judicial Assistance*,

https://travel.state.gov/content/travel/en/legal-considerations/judicial/country/china.html

In the written response of the People's Republic of China to the Hague Service Convention Questionnaire, Questions for Contracting States, China specifically indicates that it does not permit its citizens to agree to informally accept service without involvement of the Central Authority and without the documents being translated into the Chinese language. See Hague Service Convention Questionnaire, Questions for Contracting States (2008), at: http://www.hcch.net/upload/wop/2008china14.pdf, at page "19" thereof:

"c. Informal delivery (Art. 5(2))

[question] (i) Does the law of your State provide for informal delivery of documents (understood to be a method of service where the documents to be served are delivered to an addressee who accepts them voluntarily)?

• • •

[answer] [X] NO";

and see, also, Hague Service Convention Questionnaire, Questions for Contracting States (2008), at:

http://www.hcch.net/upload/wop/2008china14.pdf, at page "21" thereof:

- "C. Translation requirements (Art. 5(3))
- 30) Please indicate if your State, as a requested State, imposes any language or translation requirements for documents to be served in your State under Article 5(1) (see Conclusions and Recommendations Nos 67 and 68 of the 2003 Special Commission):

. . . .

[X] YES - please indicate what these requirements are, in each of the following set of circumstances:

a. Formal service (Art. 5(1) a)):

In circumstances where the/ a Central Authority of your State, as a requested State, is in a position to assess the content and nature of the request for service based on the "Summary" section of the Model Form and where there is evidence that the addressee is fluent in the language in which the document to be served is written. Would your State then still insist, under Article 5(1) a), that the document be translated into another language (i.e., one of the official languages of your State)?

[X] YES - please indicate why:

According to the domestic law, the documents to be served must be in Chinese language."

Completely ignoring the rules of service of process required by the Hague Convention, Respondent Rockefeller in this case obtained the Default Judgment described above by transmitting the Petition to confirm the arbitration award to SinoType in China via postal channels without complying with the Hague Convention in any way, attempting to rely on an invalid waiver of proper service in the underlying document which Plaintiff and Respondent Rockefeller claims was a written agreement, but which, as explained above, was not a legally binging contract since it merely stated that further "Long form Agreements" were to be created, and which was only a

memorandum of understanding, culturally, a Bèi Wàng Lù, without force or effect. Parties may not waive due process procedures created by the Hague Convention in the manner in which Rockefeller has claimed was done in this instance. China does not permit parties to informally waive their rights to service of legal documents under Article 5 of the Convention. China does not permit legal documents to be served unless they are translated into Chinese and served formally by the Central Authority in China. China does not permit legal documents to be served by mail, "Federal Express" or "email". Therefore, the Petition to confirm the award, the award, and, indeed, the arbitration notices themselves, were not properly served in compliance with the Convention, and the Default Judgment is void ab initio since the attempted service violated a treaty of the United States with the People's Republic of China under Dr. Ing. and Kott, and, indeed, under the U.S. Supreme Court's recent decision in Water Splash wherein it was held that, for service by mail under the Convention to be effective, it must be something that "the receiving state has not objected to". Dr. Ing., 123 Cal. App. 3d at 761; Kott, 45 Cal.App.4th at 1136; and Water Splash, 137 S. Ct. at 1508.

V. CONCLUSION

Despite the evidence submitted by SinoType and SinoType's arguments that the China's accession to the Hague Convention does not

permit informal arrangements for service, waiver of Hague Convention service, or service by mail, and the evidence that the entire MOU (including the arbitration provision and the supposed waiver of the Hague Convention) was void due to its nonbinding inherent nature, due to Faye's misrepresentations, that the MOU was not binding, and that the MOU is void for lack of consideration, the trial court refused to look at the evidence, even in the face of such an inconceivable award of \$414 million, and the glaring fact that Rockefeller never provided any consideration, whether it is AIG stock or partnership interests of Rockefeller or RFM to support a binding, valid, and enforceable MOU.

The Court of Appeal found this to be an abuse of discretion on the part of the Trial Court, found the Judgment to be void, and reversed the Trial Court's Order, ordering that the motion to vacate and set aside the judgment be granted and remanded the case to the Trial Court.

This was the correct decision, but, more importantly,

- (1) no Petition for Rehearing was filed, thereby waiving, as a matter of policy as to this Court, any potential claim that the issues or facts as framed by the Court of Appeal were misstated or contained omissions, and
- (2) the standard for a Petition for Review by this Court is not met because there are no conflicting decisions in the Courts of Appeal, published

or unpublished, meaning that <u>case law is uniform</u> as to the issues presented in the Court of Appeal's Opinion, and, moreover, Petitioner has completely failed to show that the question of law is important, aside from making the bare assertion and citing an article from "U.S. News" that claims that California does a lot of business with China (i.e., see Petition at page 10).

Accordingly, the Petition for Review should be denied.